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United States District Court, N.D. Illinois, Eastern
Division.

ALL-TONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC., Plaintiff,
v.

AMERICAN INFORMATION TECH., a/k/a Amer-
itech, et al., Defendants.

No. 89 C 7883.

Aug. 26, 1991.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
ZAGEL, District Judge.

I.
*1 All-Tone Communications, Inc. (All-Tone) files a
six count complaint against American Information
Technologies a/k/a Ameritech ("Ameritech"), Illinois
Bell Telephone Company ("Bell") and various indi-
vidual defendants affiliated with these two defendant
companies, as well as a number of public officials
serving the City of Chicago (collectively, "individual
defendants"). The essence of All-Tone's complaint is
that defendants conspired to offer a number of bribes
to public officials in order to receive the pay tele-
phone business from State of Illinois agencies, thus
depriving All-Tone of business it might otherwise
have received. This conduct, according to All-Tone,
violates §§ 1962(a), (b) and (c) of the Racketeering
Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act ("RICO").
[FN1] See 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961-68. Ameritech, Bell
and the individual defendants, filing separately, seek
to have this suit dismissed and argue that All-Tone
has neither alleged a RICO conspiracy nor any viola-
tion under RICO by defendants, and that the com-
plaint fails to allege any injury to plaintiff's business
or property under RICO.

II.
The RICO provisions impose criminal and civil liab-
ility on "any person" who uses or invests income de-
rived "from a pattern of racketeering activity" to ac-
quire an interest in or to operate an enterprise en-
gaged in interstate commerce (§ 1962(a)); who ac-

quires or maintains an interest in or control of such
an enterprise "through a pattern of racketeering activ-
ity" (§ 1962(b)); who being employed by or associ-
ated with such an enterprise, conducts or participates
in the conduct of its affairs "through a pattern of
racketeering activity," (§ 1962(c)); or who conspires
to violate the first three subsections of § 1962 (§
1962(d)). Section 1964(c) provides for a private
cause of action and allows for treble damage recov-
ery. RICO's broadly drafted provisions, as well as
the opportunity for substantial recovery, has made
RICO claims in commercial disputes quite popular.
A RICO complainant's task, however, is not as
simple as it may appear; he or she must properly al-
lege an injury caused by a pattern of racketeering
activity to sustain its RICO claim.

Counts II-VI allege violations by defendants of RICO
§ 1962(a), (b) and (c). All-Tone states that "from at
least 1984 to the present and continuing, Ameritech
and IBT have attempted to, or did offer, give or
promise to give, directly or indirectly, to public offi-
cials of the City of Chicago and the City of Chicago
Department of Aviation, among other public offi-
cials, benefits, reward and consideration to which
they were not legally entitled, with the intent to influ-
ence such public officials with respect to perform-
ance, employment or function of their powers and du-
ties as public officials." The basis for All-Tone's
claims, stated in the complaint, are the following acts
by some or all defendants for public officials with the
authority to influence the award of pay telephone
contracts: 1) providing all expense paid trip to the
Pan Am games in Indianapolis, 2) purchasing meals
by defendants or employees of defendants with com-
pany credit cards, 3) providing baseball and hockey
game tickets, 4) providing in excess of $17,000 in
connection with the printing of a Chicago Municipal
directory, 5) hosting a partner for profit luncheon and
6) providing a consulting contract for a former Com-
missioner of Aviation. This activity All-Tone argues
constituted a scheme to bribe public officials and as a
result All-Tone suffered in its business and property
by, among other things, being deprived of the ability
to compete for the business of many public agencies.
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*2 Three flaws are apparent in All-Tone's RICO
pleadings, which I address more fully below: 1) the
facts alleged against defendant Ameritech do not con-
sist of a RICO claim and there is no justification for
its inclusion in the purely RICO complaint; 2)
plaintiff has not pleaded a § 1962(a) claim and 3)
All-Tone has not established that defendants were the
proximate cause of its alleged injury as required by
RICO.

A.
Ameritech argues that it is not a proper defendant be-
cause there are no allegations that it specifically en-
gaged in activity which violates RICO and its only
relation to the controversy is as Illinois Bell's parent
company. It is inconsistent with the purposes of the
RICO statute to hold Ameritech accountable under
RICO, merely because it is Illinois Bell's parent. D
& S Auto Parts, Inc. v. Schwartz, 838 F.2d 964,
966-67 (7th Cir.1988) (refusing to hold corporation
liable under respondeat superior theory because "per-
son" cannot be liable under RICO without "fault" or
"participation"). A parent company will be a proper
RICO defendant only if it participated in the wrong-
ful conduct of its subsidiary. Id. Here, All-Tone
claims that Ameritech uses the funds derived from its
subsidiary but does not provide information beyond
this vague accusation. In fact, the only action that
All-Tone attributes to Ameritech (in part) is offering
the trip to the Pan Am Games to two public offi-
cials. This clearly does not satisfy Fed.R.Civ.P. 9(b)
pleading provisions or the pattern requirement under
the RICO statute.

B.
All-Tone's claim based on § 1962(a) is most easily
addressed. Section 1962(a) provides, in relevant
part:

It shall be unlawful for any person who has received
any income derived, directly or indirectly, from a pat-
tern of racketeering activity ... to use or invest, dir-
ectly or indirectly, any part of such income, or the
proceeds of such income, in the acquisition of any in-
terest in, or the establishment or operation of, any en-
terprise which is engaged in, or the activities of
which affect, interstate or foreign commerce.

28 U.S.C. 1962(a)(1990). I have found, consistent
with the majority of the opinions, that a plaintiff who
invokes 1962(a) may not recover if the only allega-
tion is of an injury by a pattern of racketeering. See
Grove Fresh Distributors, Inc. v. EverFresh Juice
Co., 1989 WL 152670, 1989 U.S. Lexis 14147
(N.D.Ill.1989). Rather, under § 1962(a) it must al-
lege injury by reason of defendant's use or investment
of the income derived from a pattern of racketeering.
See Rose v. Bartle, 871 F.2d 331, 357-58 (3rd
Cir.1989); Grider v. Texas Oil & Gas Corp., 868
F.2d 1147, 1149 (10th Cir.1989).

The Seventh Circuit has yet to address this issue,
however, many courts in this district agree that in-
vestment of racketeering proceeds back into the en-
terprise is insufficient to satisfy the proximate cause
requirement of 1962(a). Palumbo v. Simon & Co.,
710 F.Supp. 1407 (N.D.Ill.1988) (reviewing relevant
case-law). All-Tone's claim is that it is injured by
the defendants' acts of bribery. Plaintiff's own state-
ment is that the complaint here does not allege an in-
jury by proceeds derived from a pattern of racketeer-
ing. Count II must be stricken for failure to state a
claim upon which relief can be granted.

C.
*3 Neither can plaintiff recover, with respect to the
remaining defendants, under the other RICO provi-
sions upon which it relies. In order to recover RICO
damages a plaintiff must have been injured by the
conduct constituting the RICO violation. Sedima,
S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., Inc., 105 S.Ct. 3275 (1985).
Section 1964 of the RICO statute permits civil rem-
edies only for a plaintiff injured "by reason of" a viol-
ation of § 1962. This imposes a proximate cause re-
quirement, so that the injury must relate to the violat-
ive conduct. Haroco v. American National B. & T.
Co. of Chicago, 747 F.2d 384, 398 (1984). Thus, to
successfully plead its RICO claims All-Tone has to
show that it had a right to the State of Illinois' (or
City of Chicago's) pay telephone business and that
but for defendants' acts (the alleged bribes) it would
have received the State's pay telephone business.

In Robinson v. City Colleges of Chicago, 656 F.Supp.
562, 561 (N.D.Ill.1987), the court dismissed the
RICO claims where plaintiffs alleged they had lost
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contracts for manual and vending machine food ser-
vices with the City Colleges of Chicago when the
Board awarded contracts to the lower bidder because
of their fraudulent scheme. The Robinson court
reasoned that the plaintiffs had failed to allege causa-
tion because the Board was not required to award
food service contracts by competitive bidding, and
even if plaintiffs had submitted the highest bids,
plaintiffs had not alleged facts establishing that but
for the alleged RICO violation they would have ob-
tained the contracts. Id.

All-Tone argues that Robinson is distinguishable
from its case because Ill.Rev.Stat., ch. 24 ¶ 8-10-1 et
seq. requires competitive bidding for contracts for
pay telephone services. That statute, however, ex-
cludes from competitive bidding "all contracts or
transactions, other than the sale of personal property,
pursuant to which the municipality is the recipient of
the money." Ill.Rev.Stat., ch. 24 ¶ 8-10-4 (1990).
Contracts for pay telephone services such as those
with the State of Illinois require payments by the pay
telephone company to the customer in the form of
commissions. Awarding telephone contracts is with-
in the State's or the City's discretion and it was not
bound to choose any particular service. Cf. Hassett
Storage Warehouse, Inc. v. Board of Election Com'rs
for City of Chicago, 387 N.E.2d 785 (Ill.App.1979)
(when a public body not required to call for bids,
does so, it may award the contract to any bidder it
considers responsible). Thus, because the City of
Chicago has the discretion to choose its pay tele-
phone contracts, All-Tone has not established a right
to the contracts, and therefore, cannot show an in-
jury. See Robinson, 656 F.Supp. at 561. See also
District Telecommunications Development Corp. v.
District Cablevision, Inc., 638 F.Supp. 418
(D.D.C.1985) (plaintiff claims that as a result of a
pattern of fraud and misrepresentation in violation of
RICO, it was deprived of a cable television franchise
for which it had bid, the court dismissed the RICO
claim for lack of causation because plaintiffs had not
shown that the franchise had to be awarded by com-
petitive bidding, and thus, could not show that "but
for defendants' alleged fraud plaintiff would have re-
ceived the cable franchise").

*4 In any event, even if competitive bidding were re-

quired for the contracts, All-Tone has not alleged any
facts to show that it could have prevailed in the com-
petition, but for the bribery. All-Tone does not say
that it offered the City of Chicago a better deal than
Illinois Bell or that its service would be more favor-
able to the City. In fact, All-Tone does not specify
any contract that it actually believes it would have re-
ceived absent defendants' allegedly illegal conduct.

All-Tone argues that its RICO claims must pass
muster because its complaint is patterned after that of
H.J. Inc. v. Bell Telephone Co., 109 S.Ct. 2893
(1989), the recent Supreme Court case explaining the
"continuity plus relationship" in the context of
RICO's "pattern of racketeering" requirement. Al-
though the Supreme Court found that plaintiffs had
properly alleged a RICO claim, the same is not ne-
cessarily true in this case; All-Tone fails to see the
distinctions in this case. In H.J. Inc., the plaintiffs
alleged that Northwestern Bell made cash payments
to commissioners of the Minnesota Public Utilities
Commission, negotiated with commissioners regard-
ing future employment, funnelled payments to a com-
missioner through a third party; and provided free
airline tickets and all expense paid trips to the horse
racing track to commissioners, all with the intent to
influence the members of the commission. Id. at
2897. Admittedly there are some similarities in the
facts of the case, however, in H.J. Inc. the plaintiffs
were residential customers and rate-paying busi-
nesses of Northwestern Bell who claimed a direct in-
jury in the form of higher rates as a result of the al-
leged fraudulent acts by Northwestern Bell with re-
spect to members of the Utility Commission in Min-
nesota. The Supreme Court in H.J. Inc. did not con-
front a causation problem. As discussed previously,
All-Tone does not show that it has suffered a similar
injury because its business competitors obtained busi-
ness that it did not.

Finally, even if plaintiff could demonstrate a direct or
even indirect injury, to obtain RICO remedies
plaintiff must properly plead the elements of the un-
derlying racketeering offense as well as the RICO
claim. The Seventh Circuit emphasized in Ray v.
Karris, that RICO's limited purpose is to enhance
"remedies for certain criminal activity carried on in
particular circumstances" and a complaint is not suf-
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ficient to state a RICO violation if it does not specify
the nature of the predicate act to a degree that will al-
low defendant to comprehend the specific acts to
which it is required to answer. 780 F.2d 636, 645
(1985). Mere assertions of a statutory violation are
insufficient. Id. All-Tone has not properly pleaded
the elements of its bribery claim because it fails to es-
tablish the requisite intent on the part of defendants to
influence the acts of the public officials. This does
not comply with even the liberal notice pleading re-
quirement of the Federal Rules. See Conley v. Gib-
son, 78 S.Ct. 99 102-103 (1957). Moreover, in this
case intent has a particular significance. Defendants'
intent may determine whether the acts complained of
were actually illegal bribes or lawful, ordinary busi-
ness dealings to promote favorable business relations
between the telephone company and its client (in this
case the City). See United States v. Johnson, 621
F.2d 1073, 1076 (10th Cir.1980) (to constitute
bribery, money or benefit must be offered with intent
to influence official bad action in exchange for dona-
tion). See also United States v. Mandel, 591 F.2d
1347, 1365 (4th Cir.1979); United States v. Arthur,
544 F.2d 730 (1976). There is simply no showing
that defendants gave or accepted anything of value
with the intent for it to influence official duties.

*5 If the only flaw with plaintiff's complaint were its
failure to comply with the pleading requirement, it
would clearly deserve the opportunity to try again un-
der the liberal pleading provisions. The difficulty,
however, with allowing plaintiff to replead, is that
All-Tone simply has not satisfied the causation re-
quirement under RICO and this is a fault it cannot
remedy given the facts of this case. [FN2]

All-Tone's complaint is dismissed in its entirety, with
prejudice.

FN1. Count I of All-Tone's complaint also
makes out a pendant claim under an Illinois
criminal statute for bribery of public offi-
cials. Defendants point out that there is no
authority for conferring a private right of ac-
tion under this criminal provision. Plaintiff
responds that it does not pursue a finding
under this statute, but that Count I is asser-
ted solely to provide details concerning the

illegality of defendants' activity. On the
basis of this response, I look to Count I only
for the information it provides and assume
that plaintiff seeks no relief under Illinois
law.

FN2. A finding that All-Tone's allegations
fail to establish proximate cause is fatal to
the RICO claims and I do not examine the
question of whether All-Tone adequately
pleaded the other requirements of a RICO
claim, such as the pattern requirement or the
continuity relationship.

Not Reported in F.Supp., 1991 WL 166532 (N.D.Ill.)
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